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Preliminary Statement 

ConocoPhillips and ConocoPhillips Company (collectively “ConocoPhillips”) successfully 

executed a commercial bribery scheme that deprived Oceanic Exploration Company and Petrotimor 

Companhia de Petroleos, S.A.R.L. (collectively “Oceanic”) of the opportunity to compete for oil and 

natural gas exploration and production rights in the Timor Sea.  In its Second Amended Complaint, 

Oceanic has alleged, in detail, how these bribes to the highest government officials in East Timor—

including its now deposed Prime Minister, Mari Alkatiri—stymied Oceanic’s efforts to compete for 

and obtain those lucrative rights. 

In its motion, ConocoPhillips makes the breathtaking argument that its bribery so 

successfully co-opted East Timorese government officials as to prevent Oceanic from having any 

chance of an award of exploration and extraction rights.  And, because Oceanic had no chance, 

ConocoPhillips argues, it cannot plead that ConocoPhillips’ bribery proximately caused its injury.  

The logical and factual problems are apparent. 

Officials of newly independent East Timor repeatedly said that they would not recognize 

rights granted to ConocoPhillips by Indonesia and Australia.  ConocoPhillips had invested hundreds 

of millions of dollars in the Timor Sea, and bribed East Timorese officials to prevent the loss of its 

investment.  At the same time, Oceanic sought from East Timor production sharing contracts in the 

Timor Sea.  Oceanic repeatedly presented proposals and applications for exploration and extraction 

rights in the Timor Sea.  These proposals offered unique benefits to East Timor, including offers to 

build a natural gas pipeline to a new liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) plant on the southern shore of 

East Timor, and billion dollar investments which would have provided employment for hundreds, if 

not thousands, of East Timorese.   
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The response to these pro-Timorese proposals?  As a result of ConocoPhillips’ successful 

campaign, Oceanic’s applications were blocked, and the accompanying benefits lost to the East 

Timorese. 

Now, in the culmination of its bribery scheme, ConocoPhillips argues that its malfeasance 

caused no injury to Oceanic.  That is so, ConocoPhillips argues, because Oceanic was successfully 

excluded from competing for new production sharing contracts.  In other words, if Oceanic had 

submitted a bid and the bid selection process were rigged, Oceanic would have a claim.  But 

because, according to ConocoPhillips, it rigged the process to preclude any Oceanic bid, Oceanic has 

no claim.  Fortunately, this is not only illogical, it is not the law. 

Statement of Allegations 

The Timor Gap.  The Timor Gap is an area between East Timor and Australia in which no 

agreed seabed boundary exists.  Between 1969 and 1974, Oceanic undertook extensive research and 

analysis of the seabed geology in the Timor Gap in connection with efforts to secure and obtain a 

concession from Portugal, then sovereign over East Timor.  Oceanic successfully obtained this 

concession – and so the right to explore and develop hydrocarbons in the Timor Gap – in 1974.  

SAC ¶¶ 2, 11, 49, 52-56.   

In December 1975, Indonesia invaded East Timor—killing more than 200,000 East 

Timorese—and decreed East Timor a province of Indonesia.  Indonesia and Australia subsequently 

agreed to exploit the oil and natural gas in the Timor Gap by agreeing to a Zone of Cooperation.1  As 

a result of ConocoPhillips’ long history of corrupt activities with the Indonesian authorities, it 

                                                 
1   The Zone of Cooperation roughly corresponded to the concession area previously granted 

to Oceanic by Portugal.  SAC ¶ 72.  Australia and Indonesia established a commercial entity—the 
Joint Authority—to produce, market and sell the natural resources in the Zone of Cooperation.  SAC 
¶ 73. 
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secured a favored position when the Joint Authority began to award production sharing contracts in 

the Timor Gap.  SAC ¶¶ 57-71, 73. 

East Timor’s Independence and Invalidation of Prior Interests in the Timor Sea.  On 

August 30, 1999, the East Timorese people voted in favor of independence.  SAC ¶ 83.  The United 

Nations Security Council subsequently established the United Nations Transitional Administration in 

East Timor (“UNTAET”).  Id.  The new leadership of East Timor was adamant that East Timor 

would not recognize any interests awarded in the Timor Gap while Indonesia occupied East Timor, 

which included ConocoPhillips’ production sharing contracts from the time.  SAC ¶¶ 3, 84.  Mari 

Alkatiri, the leader of the largest East Timorese political party and later East Timor’s Prime 

Minister, stated that his party “would not legitimatize a treaty between a thief and the receiver of 

stolen goods,” referring to the Timor Gap Treaty between Indonesia and Australia which had been 

devised to facilitate their joint commercial exploitation of the Timor Gap.  Id.  Consistent with that 

view, East Timor’s Constitution vitiated the Timor Gap Treaty and all other prior interests in East 

Timor’s natural resources.  See SAC ¶ 88. 

ConocoPhillips recognized that it could lose its interests in the Timor Gap.  A 

ConocoPhillips executive characterized this threat as a “disaster of major proportions.”  SAC ¶ 86.  

To avoid the perceived “disaster,” ConocoPhillips made US$2.5 million in cash payments to and for 

the benefit of Alkatiri and other East Timorese officials.2  Those bribes had the purpose and effect of 

buying those officials’ endorsement of the ConocoPhillips agenda.   

Those bribes were effective because Alkatiri had sole and direct responsibility for East 

Timor’s natural resources and influenced the determination of whether any company would be 
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allowed to bid for the oil and natural gas reserves in the Timor Gap.  ConocoPhillips paid off 

Alkatiri to ensure that East Timor would reinstate its production sharing contracts, and to ensure that 

Oceanic would not be given the chance to compete in the Timor Gap.  SAC ¶¶ 90-91. 

ConocoPhillips’ Bribery Scheme.  ConocoPhillips’ known bribery of East Timor officials 

began with a “donation” of SUVs to East Timor, which ConocoPhillips publicized as charitable gifts 

for “agricultural use,” but which were actually intended to be (and were) personal vehicles for the 

senior political leadership in East Timor.  ConocoPhillips subsequently used corporate jets to ferry 

suitcases of cash to Alkatiri and his cronies.  As a direct result of the illegal payments made to and 

for the benefit of Alkatiri, he reversed his prior position and no longer condemned the production 

sharing contracts that ConocoPhillips had been granted during Indonesia’s military occupation of 

East Timor.  SAC ¶¶ 93, 95. 

ConocoPhillips paid its most substantial bribes in 2002 to ensure that East Timor would 

confirm ConocoPhillips’ interests in the Timor Sea.  In March 2003, as a result of ConocoPhillips’ 

bribes, East Timor ratified the Timor Sea Treaty, which created a Designated Authority to establish 

production sharing contracts.  SAC ¶¶ 100-108. 

Alkatiri and his circle influenced whether the Designated Authority would allow competition 

for or award production sharing contracts.   The day after the treaty came into effect, the Designated 

Authority entered into a production sharing agreement with ConocoPhillips, affirming its prior 

status. SAC ¶¶ 91, 109-110.  ConocoPhillips also bribed Alkatiri and his cohorts to ensure favorable 

tax treatment from East Timor.  SAC ¶¶ 94, 98-99.   

                                                 
2   The magnitude and implications of ConocoPhillips’ illegal payments to Alkatiri can 

only be appreciated if one understands that East Timor is a desperately poor country, and that, as 
Prime Minister, Alkatiri earned only US$450 per month. 
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Oceanic’s Efforts to Compete for Oil and Gas Rights in a Newly-Independent East 

Timor.  Beginning with East Timor's independence vote in 1999, Oceanic persistently sought the 

right to extract oil and gas from the Timor Sea.  Oceanic attempted to meet with the head of 

UNTAET (Sergio Vieira de Mello) regarding such matters, but he refused the meeting at Alkatiri’s 

instruction.  In addition, Oceanic representatives repeatedly tried to meet with Alkatiri to discuss the 

Oceanic proposals for development in the Timor Sea.  Those efforts were also rebuffed.  SAC ¶¶ 

114-15, 117. 

Nevertheless, Oceanic kept pressing.  In October of 2001, it hand-delivered to UNTAET a 

formal request for a concession.  Alkatiri responded by asking the head of UNTAET to issue an edict 

prohibiting any UNTAET employee from speaking with Oceanic.  Mr. de Mello acceded to 

Alkatiri’s request, issuing a memorandum instructing UNTAET personnel “to have no contacts with 

these representatives [of Oceanic] or their associates.” SAC ¶ 119.   

In June 2003, Jose Teixeria, one of two East Timorese commissioners on the Designated 

Authority, informed an Oceanic representative that the Designated Authority would not consider any 

Oceanic bids because that would be an “action that might annoy the Sunrise Field Group,”  

substantially owned by ConocoPhillips.  So, Oceanic was given no opportunity to compete for 

production sharing contracts in the Joint Petroleum Development Area.  SAC ¶¶ 124-25   

Oceanic’s persistent efforts to secure oil and gas rights in the Timor Gap proved futile 

because ConocoPhillips bribed key East Timorese officials—particularly Alkatiri—to eliminate any 

fair competition for these rights.  SAC ¶¶ 89-108.  As a direct result, ConocoPhillips’ bribery 

scheme deprived Oceanic of the opportunity to compete fairly for exploration and production rights 

in the Timor Gap.  SAC ¶¶ 125-27. 
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Had ConocoPhillips not bribed Alkatiri, Oceanic would have had the opportunity to bid on 

terms more favorable to East Timor and would have been awarded the right to explore for and 

extract oil and natural gas from the Timor Gap.  SAC ¶ 1.  Oceanic offered East Timor what 

ConocoPhillips would not:  to fund a proceeding before the International Court of Justice to resolve 

the seabed boundary dispute in East Timor’s favor;3 to build a pipeline to East Timor; to pipe the 

natural gas from the Timor Sea to East Timor; and to build a multi-billion dollar liquid natural gas 

processing plant in East Timor.  SAC ¶¶ 5, 120-123.  Accordingly, Oceanic has “been injured in its 

business or property as a direct and proximate result of the defendant Conspirators’ acts” in an 

amount in excess of $10.5 billion.4  SAC ¶ 158.   

Argument 

I. STANDARDS GOVERNING A MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS 

When a defendant presents matters outside the pleadings for consideration on a Rule 12(c) 

motion (as ConocoPhillips has done),5 the Court should disregard such matters, or must convert the 

motion to a motion for summary judgment.  See Baker v. Putnal, 75 F.3d 190, 197-98 (5th Cir. 

1996) (“[I]f the district court bases its ruling on facts developed outside the pleadings, we review the 

                                                 
3   That Oceanic was a viable competitor for the resources in the Timor Sea is unequivocally 

demonstrated by Australia's reaction to Oceanic's offer—it withdrew its consent to the jurisdiction of 
the International Court of Justice, the tribunal that traditionally resolves seabed boundary disputes.  
SAC ¶ 120.   

4   At the status conference on April 5, 2007, the Court asked whether the $10.5 billion had 
been discounted.  It had not been for two reasons.  First, that number was based on the assumption 
that Oceanic would have been able to begin extracting hydrocarbons years ago, so no discounting 
was appropriate.  Second, that amount was calculated using a price of $30 per barrel of oil equivalent 
(“BOE”).  Of course, if the amount ultimately did need to be discounted, the discounting would start 
from the current market price of $60+ per BOE, not the $30 per BOE figure used in the initial 
calculation. 

5   See Affidavit of John F. Lynch submitted in support of ConocoPhillips’ Motion for 
Judgment on the Pleadings.  That 327-page affidavit contains numerous items that are clearly 
“matters outside the pleadings.” 
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ruling as an order granting summary judgment”).  It is improper for a court to convert a Rule 12(c) 

motion to a motion for summary judgment without giving the plaintiff “an opportunity to conduct 

discovery.”  Benchmark Electronics, Inc. v. J.M. Huber Corp., 343 F.3d 719, 725 (5th Cir. 2003). 

II. THE COURT SHOULD DENY CONOCOPHILLIPS’ MOTION AS A PREMATURE 
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

A. The Court Cannot Properly Consider a Motion for Summary Judgment Before 
Oceanic Has Even Had the Opportunity to Conduct Discovery 

That ConocoPhillips’ motion is an improper, premature motion for summary judgment is 

plain from the face of the Motion.6  ConocoPhillips improperly seeks to introduce evidence outside 

the pleadings which it contends shows "certain undisputed facts" that justify granting its motion.  

Motion at 5.  This is summary judgment language, which requires a showing of "no genuine issue of 

material fact."   See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).  The "undisputed facts" that ConocoPhillips relies upon 

are exclusively outside the pleadings.  See Motion at 5-7 (citing Lynch Affidavit Exs. 2, 3, 4, 7, 8).7  

Oceanic has had no opportunity to take discovery from ConocoPhillips or others.  The Court may 

not consider any evidence without converting this motion to one for summary judgment and 

affording Oceanic discovery.  See Baker, 75 F.3d at 197-98.8  Any resolution of the disputed factual 

issues in this case, by full or partial summary judgment or otherwise, would be reversible error if 

Oceanic is not afforded an opportunity to take discovery. 

                                                 
6   ConocoPhillips’ motion should be denied even if the Court decides to treat 

ConocoPhillips’ motion as a Rule 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings, because the factual 
disputes raised by ConocoPhillips’ motion preclude entry of judgment on the pleadings.  See Fed. R. 
Civ. P. 12(c); Voest-Alpine Trading USA Corp. v. Bank of China, 142 F.3d 887, 891 (5th Cir. 1998).  

7   See Motion at 5-6, 19-20; Affidavit of John F. Lynch. 
8   While the Court may, in limited circumstances, take judicial notice of certain facts, 

ConocoPhillips far exceeds the scope of proper judicial notice and submits for the Court’s 
consideration “evidence”, which Oceanic disputes, that the court may not properly notice under 
Federal Rule of Evidence 201.  See Oceanic’s Objections to Affidavit of John Lynch submitted 
herewith.  
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The Fifth Circuit’s decision in Benchmark is directly on point.  In Benchmark, the district 

court converted the defendant’s motion for judgment on the pleadings to a motion for summary 

judgment and granted the motion.  The Fifth Circuit reversed, holding that a court cannot treat a 

motion for judgment on the pleadings as a motion for summary judgment “without providing [the 

plaintiff] an opportunity to conduct discovery.”  Benchmark, 343 F.3d at 725.  Accordingly, the 

Court should deny ConocoPhillips’ motion as a premature motion for summary judgment, and only 

revisit it, if at all, after that discovery has been concluded.9

B. ConocoPhillips’ Motion Must Be Deemed a Motion for Summary Judgment 
Because It Relies On Evidence Outside the Pleadings and Raises Numerous 
Disputed Factual Issues Related to Proximate Causation 

1. ConocoPhillips' Incentive To Bribe Is A Disputed Factual Issue 

ConocoPhillips purports to present "evidence" to show that ConocoPhillips had no incentive, 

motivation or intent to engage in bribery because its interests in the Timor Sea were never in doubt.  

"For it is clear here that ConocoPhillips had no reason to engage in any such bribery scheme."  

Motion at 5.  The Court cannot rely on that evidence to grant the motion for three reasons.  First, the 

evidence consists of newspaper articles, the content of which the Court cannot accept for their truth.  

Eberhardt v. Merck & Co., 106 Fed. Appx. 277, 279 (5th Cir. 2004) (refusing judicial notice of 

newspaper articles offered to show media coverage); Fathergill v. Rouleau, 2003 WL 22342718, *5 

                                                 

(footnote continued) 

 9   That discovery will necessarily be broad – for at least two substantial reasons.  First, 
causation is an inherently complex and fact intensive issue.  Second, Oceanic is entitled to seek such 
evidence (through document, deposition and other discovery from ConocoPhillips and third-parties) 
as is available: (1) to support its own theories of causation; and (2) to rebut ConocoPhillips’ wide-
ranging attacks on those theories of causation. 

 As to the latter, ConocoPhillips’ own Rule 12(c) Motion (and the evidence it improperly 
seeks to offer in support of that motion) show graphically that the sweep of the causation issue is 
broad – encompassing a wide array of events taking place over many years and in many countries (at 
least East Timor, Australia, Indonesia, and the United States), and an even wider array of actors 
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(N.D. Tex. 2003) (refusing judicial notice of a periodical about lawyer's rates because "the article in 

question is not a source whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned"); see also Taylor v. 

Charter Medical Corp., 162 F.3d 827, 830 (5th Cir. 1998).   

Second, ConocoPhillips cites them to suggest that its interests were never in jeopardy.  Even 

those articles do not support that proposition.  For example, one of the articles quotes Ramos Horta 

to say that "the East Timorese people will continue challenging the unjust arrangements of the Timor 

Gap Treaty.  They will undertake all necessary legal actions ensuring them a just share in their 

natural resources.  They will do their utmost to recover the proceeds of the exploitation of their 

natural resources that may be misappropriated by others."10  Ramos Horta continued that the recent 

Indonesian political changes "should lead the oil companies operating in the Timor Gap Area . . . to 

realize that they cannot continue ignoring the rights of the East Timorese people."  Similarly, after 

the vote of independence, Ramos Horta was reported to have "caused some nervousness in the oil 

industry when he said earlier this year that he wanted the Timor Gap Treaty to be renegotiated," and 

it was.11  SAC ¶¶ 104-110.  The inconsistencies in ConocoPhillips' own "evidence" hardly permit a 

conclusion that "undisputed facts" show that it had not intent to bribe to preserve its investment.  

These unreliable pronouncements are not only internally contradictory, but are contradicted by the 

allegations in the Second Amended Complaint.  See SAC ¶¶ 3, 84 (Alkatiri saying that East Timor 

“would not legitimatize a treaty between a thief and the receiver of stolen goods”).  If anything, the 

later changes of position by East Timor's political leadership regarding the legitimacy of 

                                                 
whose motivations, actions, and failures to act are alleged – by ConocoPhillips itself – to be relevant 
to the causation issue. 

10   Lynch Aff. Ex. 1 at 2 (emphasis added). 
11   Id. Ex. 4 at 2 (emphasis added); see id. Ex. 6.  
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ConocoPhillips’ rights only heightened its already strong incentives to engage in such malfeasance 

as was needed to preserve its investment in the Timor Sea.    

Third, and most significantly, ConocoPhillips' incentive, motivation, and concern are 

disputed.  Oceanic has alleged that ConocoPhillips recognized it could lose its interests in the Timor 

Sea, which a ConocoPhillips executive characterized as a “disaster of major proportions.”  SAC ¶ 

86.  ConocoPhillips responded to that allegation with favorable, but inconsistent and unreliable, 

evidence.  Such one-sided evidence does not resolve the material question of ConocoPhillips' 

subjective concern.  The Court may not rule on this motion before permitting Oceanic to seek 

ConocoPhillips' internal memoranda, e-mails, analysis, etc. relating to both the risk to its investment 

created by political changes in East Timor and the competitive threat that Oceanic posed, and to 

depose the responsible employees.  Evidence in ConocoPhillips possession (not vague and 

inconsistent, and later withdrawn assurances, of politicians) will prove whether ConocoPhillips had 

"reason to engage in any such bribery scheme."  Motion at 5.   

ConocoPhillips' "imperative to pay bribes" is hardly made up of "whole cloth."  Oceanic is 

entitled to discovery on ConocoPhillips' own perception of its 'imperative', and to present evidence 

thereon. 

2. ConocoPhillips' Motion Raises Factual Disputes Related to Proximate 
Cause 

In addition to the factual issue of ConocoPhillips’ incentive to engage in bribery, the motion 

raises other factual disputes relating to whether ConocoPhillips' improper conduct was the proximate 

cause of Oceanic's injury.  ConocoPhillips suggests fertile ground for factual disputes on page 16 of 

its motion.  The chain of causation is not an issue that the Court may resolve on a pleading motion, 

as Oceanic's allegations contradict each premise that ConocoPhillips' sets forth.  These factual 

disputes include whether, absent ConocoPhillips’ bribery, (a) the newly-independent East Timor 
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would have abrogated ConocoPhillips’ production sharing contract and re-opened bidding, (b) 

Oceanic would have bid, (c) Oceanic would have had the wherewithal to bid, and (d) Oceanic would 

have been granted rights to exploit oil and natural gas in the Timor Sea.12  See Motion at 15-21. 

(a) Oceanic Has Alleged that East Timor Would Have Re-Opened 
Bidding, and Whether It Would Do So is a Factual Dispute 

ConocoPhillips claims that East Timor never would have allowed a re-bidding process.  As 

set forth above, the Court may not consider ConocoPhillips' pronouncements external to the 

pleadings.  They are internally inconsistent.  They contradict Oceanic's allegations that East 

Timorese officials were adamant that they would not recognize interests that had been awarded in 

the Timor Gap while Indonesia occupied East Timor.  SAC ¶¶ 3, 84.  Oceanic also alleges that it 

offered East Timor substantial benefits beyond those offered by ConocoPhillips, including: (1) an 

offer to fund ICJ proceedings to adjudicate East Timor’s boundary rights in the Timor Sea consistent 

with international law; and (2) to construct a natural gas pipeline and an LNG plant in East Timor 

that would have provided billions of dollars in investment (and substantial employment) to East 

Timor.  SAC ¶¶ 5, 120-23. 

(b) Oceanic Has Alleged that It Would have Bid and Won; Whether It 
Would Have Done So Is A Factual Dispute 

ConocoPhillips argues that the sole basis for Oceanic's claim that it would have bid for 

production sharing contracts is an "ex post facto unsupported conclusory claim."  This is false. 

                                                 
12   ConocoPhillips questions whether Australia would have allowed the rights to be rebid.  

Australia's only arrangement in the area, however, was with Indonesia, through the Timor Gap 
Treaty, which lapsed upon East Timor's independence.  At that point, East Timor held the trump card 
as it were, as to how the rights in the Timor Gap would be administered.  Of course Australia 
favored the status quo, that is why it was so important that ConocoPhillips co-opt East Timor 
officials to preserve the status quo at the expense of the people of East Timor.  Far from an 
intervening cause, Australia's alignment of interests with ConocoPhillips' precluded any need for 
ConocoPhillips to "persuade" Australian authorities to change their position.  See SAC ¶¶ 95, 120. 
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ConocoPhillips ignores the fact that that Oceanic held the concession to the entire Timor Gap.  SAC 

¶¶ 2, 11, 52-56.  Further, Oceanic did "bid."  It submitted to UNTAET a formal request for a 

concession in October 2001.  SAC ¶ 119.  Oceanic describes its qualifications in the area of oil and 

gas exploration, and its prior experience in the Timor Sea.  SAC ¶¶ 51-54.  Oceanic invested 

considerable time and resources in discovering, mapping, and proposing to develop the very same 

areas for which ConocoPhillips was later awarded production contracts as a result of its bribery.  

SAC ¶¶ 72, 77-82.  Finally, Oceanic alleges that it undertook significant efforts to persuade the new 

East Timorese government to allow it to develop new areas of natural resources.   SAC ¶¶ 112-123.  

These allegations demonstrate that Oceanic had a substantial chance of succeeding in a fair 

competition had ConocoPhillips’ scheme of bribery not successfully excluded Oceanic.13  The Court 

must accept these allegations as true on this motion.  

ConocoPhillips acknowledges Oceanic’s allegations, but disputes them.  For example, 

ConocoPhillips questions Oceanic’s allegation that it would have bid for oil and gas rights,14 deems 

it “dubious” that Oceanic had the wherewithal to be a qualified bidder, Motion at 19,15 and opines 

                                                 

(footnote continued) 

13   Judge Sullivan agreed, finding that: “Plaintiffs have sufficiently shown that they had 
invested a significant amount of research and resources in analyzing and developing ways to explore 
for and produce petroleum and natural gas in the Timor Gap since the 1970s.  Therefore, plaintiffs 
have demonstrated a reasonable likelihood or probability that, but for the alleged interference by 
ConocoPhillips, a contract would have resulted.  Oceanic Exploration v. ConocoPhillips, 2006 WL 
2711527 at *20 (September 21, 2006 Opinion at 52-53) (emphasis added). 

14   ConocoPhillips’ contention that Oceanic would not have submitted a bid is ridiculous 
because Oceanic actually submitted a formal request for a concession to UNTAET in October 2001.  
See SAC ¶ 119.  

15   ConocoPhillips cites a few of Oceanic’s SEC filings in support of its argument that 
Oceanic was not qualified to bid for oil and gas exploitation rights in the Timor Gap.  Motion at 19-
20.  The Second Amended Complaint, however, contains numerous allegations regarding Oceanic’s 
significant exploration activities in the Timor Gap and its proposals for exploitation of the Timor 
Gap and areas beyond the Timor Gap which would have significantly benefited East Timor.  SAC ¶¶ 
5, 51-54, 114, 118, 120-121, 123.  Once again, ConocoPhillips raises a disputed factual issue and 
improperly asks the Court to adjudicate that issue in its favor at the pleading stage.  That is 
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that it requires a “flight of fancy” to credit Oceanic’s allegation that it would have been awarded oil 

and gas rights vis-a-vis a “multinational giant” (albeit a corrupt one) like ConocoPhillips.  Motion at 

21. 

As Oceanic explained at the pre-trial conference, Oceanic has the backing of an investor with 

more than sufficient assets to qualify for bidding, and Oceanic must be permitted to present evidence 

in this regard before the Court can either (a) accept ConocoPhillips' incomplete assertions, or (b) rule 

on this motion.  ConocoPhillips’ arguments (actually factual disagreements) confirm that judgment 

on the pleadings is not appropriate, see Voest-Alpine Trading USA Corp. v. Bank of China, 142 F.3d 

887, 891 (5th Cir. 1998), and further confirm that the motion, if it is not stricken altogether, should 

be deemed a motion for summary judgment.16

III. OCEANIC HAS PLEADED THAT CONOCOPHILLIPS’ CORRUPT ACTS 
PROXIMATELY CAUSED ITS INJURY 

A. Proximate Cause Simply Requires Some Direct Relation Between the Injurious 
Conduct and the Injury Alleged 

The RICO statute provides that “[a]ny person injured in his business or property by reason of 

a violation of section 1962 . . . may sue therefor.”  18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).  This statute sets forth the 

standing requirements that a RICO plaintiff must meet.  See Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imvex Co., Inc., 473 

U.S. 479, 496 (1985) (“In addition, the plaintiff only has standing if, and can only recover to the 

extent that, he has been injured in his business or property by the conduct constituting the 

violation.”).  ConocoPhillips concedes, for purposes of this motion, that Oceanic is a “person,” that 

ConocoPhillips' pattern of bribery injured Oceanic’s business or property, and that ConocoPhillips 

                                                 
impermissible.  In the Rule 12(c) context, the Court must accept Oceanic’s allegations as true.  See 
Johnson v. Johnson, 385 F.3d 503, 529 (5th Cir. 2004). 
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misconduct violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962 by committing various, prohibited predicate acts.  The only 

question raised by the motion is whether Oceanic’s “business or property” was injured “by reason 

of” ConocoPhillips’ pattern of bribery.  The only answer to that question is "yes." 

In Holmes v. Securities Investor Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268 (1992), the Supreme 

Court held that the “by reason of” language in the RICO statute incorporates traditional requirements 

of proximate cause.17  A pattern of bribery, like the one that Oceanic alleges, proximately causes 

harm to a competitor disenfranchised by that pattern of bribery.  See, e.g., Phoenix Bond & 

Indemnity Co. v. Bridge, 477 F.3d 928, 931-32 (7th Cir. Feb. 20, 2007) (proximate cause satisfied 

where defendant bidders unlawfully obtained competitive advantage over plaintiff at tax lien 

auctions); Bieter Co. v. Blomquist, 987 F.2d 1319, 1325 (8th Cir. 1993) (proximate cause satisfied 

where defendant developer allegedly bribed city officials to defeat plaintiff’s competing 

development); Mylan Labs., Inc. v. Akzo, N.V., 770 F. Supp. 1053, 1084 (D. Md. 1991) (proximate 

cause satisfied where defendant drug companies allegedly bribed FDA officials to ensure first 

approval of new drug applications at expense of plaintiff and others).18

                                                 
16   Oceanic will be filing a Reply in Support of its Motion to Strike ConocoPhillips' Rule 

12(c) Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings promptly and respectfully requests that the Court grant 
that motion in its entirety and allow the parties to proceed with discovery. 

17   The Holmes Court reached this conclusion because the “by reason of” language in the 
RICO statute was modeled on Section 4 of the Clayton Act.  The Supreme Court had previously held 
in Associated General Contractors of Cal., Inc. v. Cal. State Council of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 
534 (1983), that claims brought pursuant to Section 4 of the Clayton Act require a showing of 
proximate cause.  The Holmes Court concluded that the same reasoning should be applied to RICO 
claims.  Holmes, 503 U.S. at 268. 

18   Although Mylan Labs pre-dates Holmes, it remains good law because the Fourth Circuit 
had already been applying principles of proximate causation to RICO claims.  See Mylan Labs., 770 
F. Supp. at 1083-84. 
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B. The Second Amended Complaint Alleges that ConocoPhillips’ Bribery and 
Corrupt Acts Proximately Caused Oceanic’s Injury 

ConocoPhillips’ bribery of East Timorese officials deprived Oceanic of the opportunity to 

compete for oil and gas rights below the Timor Sea.  SAC ¶¶ 4, 6, 90.  Indeed, the sole purpose of 

ConocoPhillips’ bribery scheme was to ensure that Oceanic, the only other company seeking such 

rights, was excluded from the competitive process.   

1. Oceanic Has Met the Notice Pleading Requirements 

First, Oceanic has explicitly alleged proximate cause: 

158. Plaintiffs, and each of them, have been injured in their business or property as 
a direct and proximate result of the defendant Conspirators’ violations of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1962(c), including injury by reason of the predicate acts constituting the pattern of 
racketeering activity. 

159. Oceanic and Petrotimor have been injured, at a minimum, in their valuable 
business and property by the actions of the defendant Conspirators in unlawfully 
preventing and interfering with their ability to compete fairly for the ability to extract 
hydrocarbons from the Timor Sea and preventing and interfering with their ability to 
secure production sharing contracts to explore for and produce oil and natural gas in 
the Timor Sea. 

SAC ¶¶ 158-159.  The Federal Rules’ notice pleading requirement demands no more than this.  See 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a) (requiring a “short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is 

entitled to relief”); Ashe v. Corley, 992 F.2d 540, 545 (5th Cir. 1993) (complaint not subject to 

challenge for failure to plead proximate cause when it met the notice pleading standard).19   

                                                 
19   Johnson Controls v. Exide Corp., 132 F. Supp. 2d 654, 661-62 (N.D. Ill. 2001) (finding 

proximate cause to be adequately pleaded where allegation read: “[a]s a result of [defendants’] 
pattern of racketeering activity, Johnson Controls became severely disadvantaged and ultimately lost 
[Sears’] battery supply contract”) (dismissed on other grounds with leave to amend).  In fact, the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure actually require much less than that for civil actions pleaded in 
accordance with Rule 8(a).  See, e.g., Official Forms 9 and 10 to the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure.  (“As a result” language is the only proximate cause allegation needed in these two 
judicially-approved sample negligence complaints.) 
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2. Oceanic’s Allegations, Which the Court Must Accept as True, Show that 
Oceanic Has Pleaded Facts Showing Proximate Causation 

In deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings, “all facts pleaded in the complaint must 

be taken as true” and “liberally construed in favor of the plaintiff.”  EPCO Carbon Dioxide 

Products, Inc. v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, NA, 467 F.3d 466, 467 (5th Cir. 2006).  In Anza v. Ideal 

Steel Supply Corp., __ U.S. __, 126 S. Ct. 1991 (2006), the Court affirmed that the relevant 

proximate cause inquiry is “whether the alleged violation led directly to plaintiff’s injuries.”  Id. at 

1998.  As detailed above, and as Judge Sullivan twice found, Oceanic’s allegations meet this 

standard.  That is so because ConocoPhillips’ bribery directly caused Oceanic to be deprived of any 

opportunity to compete fairly for oil and gas rights in the Timor Sea.  The pattern of bribery alleged 

by Oceanic shows that (1) ConocoPhillips faced the prospect of losing a multi-billion-dollar resource 

and associated investment, (2) ConocoPhillips needed to ensure that East Timor reaffirmed its claims 

without open and fair bidding, and (3) as a direct result of ConocoPhillips’ bribery, the submissions 

and petitions by Oceanic—the only other competitor vying for ConocoPhillips’ production sharing 

contracts—never saw the light of day. 

In its motion, ConocoPhillips strays far outside the Second Amended Complaint and attempts 

to present “evidence” suggesting that it did not need to resort to bribery to ensure that it maintained 

its production sharing contracts.20  This “evidence” stands in stark contrast to Alkatiri’s express 

public statement that East Timor had no intent of recognizing a contract between a “thief and the 

receiver of stolen goods.”  SAC ¶¶ 3, 84.  It also ignores the fact that the East Timor Constitution 

was drafted to abrogate all such rights, including ConocoPhillips’ rights, SAC ¶ 88, and that this 

                                                 
20   See Lynch Aff. Exs. 2, 3, 4.  
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constitutional provision required governmental evaluation and approval of all production sharing 

contracts for oil and gas in the Timor Sea—new and existing. 

ConocoPhillips’ actions were criminal.  To prevent Oceanic from succeeding in its efforts  to 

gain exploration rights (and improving the lot of the East Timorese), ConocoPhillips paid over $2.5 

million dollars to Alkatiri and his cronies over approximately a three-year period.  As a result of 

those payments: (a) government officials were prohibited from having any contact with Oceanic, (b) 

one of Alkatiri’s representatives on the Designated Authority told Oceanic that any bid it submitted 

would not be accepted so as not to upset ConocoPhillips, (c) East Timor did not exercise its 

constitutionally-based right to reopen ConocoPhillips’ production sharing contract for bidding, and 

(d) Alkatiri ensured that ConocoPhillips (East Timor’s largest taxpayer) paid a tax rate lower than 

even ConocoPhillips requested, to the detriment of East Timor’s citizens.   

Despite this, ConocoPhillips argues that its conduct did not injure Oceanic.  Oceanic's 

allegations compel a contrary conclusion, as does the applicable law.  In Bieter Co. v. Blomquist, the 

Eighth Circuit held that the plaintiff could prove proximate causation under RICO when the 

defendants had bribed the mayor and other city officials to prevent the plaintiff (a competitor) from 

securing approval of a commercial development.  Bieter, 987 F.2d at 1325.  The district court found 

no proximate cause because, with the number of votes against it, the district court believed that the 

plaintiff’s proposal would have been defeated regardless of the alleged bribery.  Id. at 1326.  The 

Eighth Circuit reversed, deeming the district court’s finding too “narrow [a] view of causation in 

group decision-making.”  Id.  The Court of Appeals wisely recognized that the defendants’ bribery 

of the mayor had tainted the entire process, and could have caused the plaintiff’s injuries regardless 

of the actual vote count.  Id. at 1326-27.  
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Bieter bears a striking resemblance to this case.  ConocoPhillips’ bribery of Alkatiri (and 

others) unquestionably subverted the competitive process in East Timor, and deprived Oceanic of the 

opportunity to compete fairly for oil and gas rights in the Timor Sea.  SAC ¶¶ 1, 4, 6, 90, 125-127.  

Oceanic has alleged and can show that ConocoPhillips’ bribery of Alkatiri, like the defendants’ 

bribery of the mayor in Bieter, proximately caused Oceanic’s injury.   

In Astech-Marmon, the court found proximate cause when the defendants paid bribes and 

kickbacks to city officials to obtain municipal asbestos-removal contracts.  Astech-Marmon, Inc. v. 

Lenoci, 349 F. Supp. 2d 265, 267 (D. Conn. 2004).  Defendants bribed a city official to inform the 

plaintiff that asbestos-removal work was not available and would not be subject to bidding 

procedures.  Id.  The court found that the defendants’ scheme “directly caused” injury to the plaintiff 

because it “subvert[ed] the municipal bidding process and den[ied] Astech-Marmon . . . the 

opportunity to bid on and perform City work.”  Id. at 269.  The same is true here.  ConocoPhillips’ 

scheme of bribery and corruption subverted fair competition, and caused Oceanic to be denied the 

chance to compete fairly for oil and gas rights in the Timor Gap. 

Mylan Labs., Inc. v. Akzo, N.V. is also on point.  The defendant drug companies bribed FDA 

officials to ensure that their generic drug applications were accelerated over competitors’ 

applications, including the plaintiff’s application.  Mylan Labs., 770 F. Supp. at 1058.  Noting that 

“[t]he bribes given and received were allegedly received for the purpose of advancing the bribing 

company’s [applications] at the expense of other companies,” the court found proximate cause by 

deeming the injury to the plaintiff a “foreseeable recognizable result” of the defendants’ bribery.  Id. 

at 1084.   

The same reasoning applies here.  When a company engages in illegal and exclusionary 

conduct to secure an unfair competitive advantage, injury to a competitor, such as Oceanic, is a 
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foreseeable and recognizable result.  ConocoPhillips knew Oceanic had invested significant 

resources and efforts in order to secure these valuable rights in a newly-independent East Timor, and 

it engaged in bribery and corruption to prevent Oceanic from competing and winning those rights. 

3. The Holmes, Anza and James Cape Decisions Do Not Support The 
Dismissal of Oceanic’s RICO Claims 

ConocoPhillips contends that the Holmes and Anza cases bar Oceanic’s RICO claims.21  In 

each, a plaintiff sought recovery for harm to a third party.  Here ConocoPhillips' illegal conduct 

directly harmed Oceanic.   

(a) Holmes 

In Holmes, the defendants fraudulently manipulated the price of certain stocks, which two 

broker-dealers purchased.  Holmes, 503 U.S. at 262-263.  When the price manipulation came to 

light, the stock’s prices plummeted, forcing the two broker-dealers into liquidation.  The 

governmental insurer, the Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPC”),22 paid millions to 

cover the claims of the broker-dealers’ customers for losses caused by the liquidation.  Id. at 263.  

SIPC then sued the defendants to recover what it paid to cover the claims.  Id. 262-263.   

The court ruled that SIPC could not state RICO claims against the defendants because the 

harm to SIPC (paying the claims of the broker-dealers’ customers) was too remote and derivative of 

the injury of the direct victims of the fraud—the broker-dealers.  Id.  Defendants’ fraud did not injure 

the customers directly; rather, it directly injured the broker-dealers who were then left “without the 

                                                 
21   ConocoPhillips did not cite Holmes v. Securities. Investor Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 

258 (1992) in its motion to dismiss, despite the fact that the case was obviously available to it.  
ConocoPhillips also never cited Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Corp., __ U.S. __, 126 S. Ct. 1991 
(2006), although the decision came down months before Judge Sullivan ruled on 
ConocoPhillips’ motion to dismiss and its motion for reconsideration.   
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wherewithal to pay customers’ claims.”  Id. at 271.  Notably, the broker-dealers had also filed suit 

against the defendants.  Id.   

(b) Anza 

ConocoPhillips also claims that the Supreme Court’s Anza decision requires dismissal.  Anza, 

however, simply applied the principles of Holmes to the specific facts of that case.  As the Anza 

Court put it:  “[o]ur analysis begins-and . . . largely ends-with Holmes.”  126 S. Ct. at 1995.  Anza, 

like Holmes, is distinguishable. 

In Anza, the defendant defrauded the State of New York by failing to pay sales tax and then 

allegedly used the proceeds of the fraud to offer lower prices.  Id. at 1995, 1997.  The plaintiff then 

claimed it was injured by the unfairly lower prices.  Id.  The Court emphasized that the “direct 

victim” of the defendant’s allegedly unlawful acts was the State of New York, and not the plaintiff.  

Id. at 1998.  The Court concluded that the plaintiff could not show proximate cause because “[t]he 

cause of [plaintiff’s] asserted harms . . . is a set of actions [offering lower prices] entirely distinct 

from the alleged RICO violation [defrauding the State].”  Id. at 1997.      

In contrast to SIPC and the store owner in Anza, Oceanic’s harm was caused by 

ConocoPhillips’ alleged RICO violations (its bribery of East Timorese officials).  That bribery 

directly deprived Oceanic of any chance to compete for oil and gas exploitation rights.  Accordingly, 

this Court faces no prospect of having to apportion damages among various classes of plaintiffs, as 

the Holmes Court did. 

Under these cases, Oceanic (the direct victim of ConocoPhillips’ corrupt acts) is the only 

appropriate party to seek redress.  The types of injuries naturally resulting from a company’s failure 

                                                 
22   SIPC was created pursuant to the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970.  SIPC is 

charged with protecting customers of broker-dealers in danger of failing to meet customer 
obligations.   
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to pay sales tax to the state do not include injury to a competitor from lower prices.  Injury to a 

competitor is certainly a very direct and very foreseeable result of a government bribery scheme 

aimed at securing an unfair competitive advantage and eliminating fair competition from the 

marketplace. 

(c) James Cape 

ConocoPhillips’ reliance on James Cape & Sons Co. v. PCC Construction Co., 453 F.3d 396 

(7th Cir. 2006), is also misplaced.  In James Cape, the defendants created a scheme to underbid 

James Cape & Sons on construction contracts with the State of Wisconsin.  Id. at 398.  The plaintiff 

alleged injury “because its share of the market was reduced and it was awarded fewer contracts than 

it otherwise would have been.”  Id. at 398-399.  The court concluded that the plaintiff failed to 

establish direct causation, in part, because it could not prove “what portion of its ‘lost market share’ 

is attributable to the bids lost to the . . . scheme.”  Id. at 403.  The court also noted that the State (the 

direct victim of the scheme23) was capable of bringing claims to vindicate the law.  Id. at 404.   

Unlike James Cape, the governmental actors in this case were not harmed, but improperly 

benefited as part of the conspiracy.  No party was more directly injured than Oceanic.  To the extent 

the James Cape court denied plaintiff relief because it “could never be certain whether [plaintiff] 

would have won any of the contracts” absent defendants’ corruption, the case was wrongly decided 

and runs contrary to the authorities cited above.  Such a rule would prevent any disenfranchised 

bidder from proving proximate cause when the underlying bribery scheme was successful.24

                                                 

(footnote continued) 

23   Plaintiff alleged in James Cape that the state of Wisconsin was “overcharged by almost 
two million dollars” as a result of the scheme because defendants were able to inflate bids on 
contracts they knew they would receive.  James Cape, 453 F.3d at 398. 

24   Of course, that is usually the case, because parties injured by exclusionary practices 
obviously have lost the contracts at issue.  Surely the James Cape court did not mean to immunize 
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After James Cape, the Seventh Circuit issued an opinion finding proximate cause in a 

corrupted bid case.  In Phoenix Bond & Indemnity Co. v. Bridge, 477 F.3d 928 (7th Cir. 2007), the 

defendants fraudulently obtained a greater share of tax liens than they were permitted pursuant to the 

county’s auction process.  Id. at 929.  Plaintiffs asserted RICO claims, alleging they suffered injury 

because the defendants’ unlawful acts caused them to acquire fewer tax liens than they would 

otherwise have acquired in a fair competition.  Id.   The court agreed, concluding that the plaintiffs 

had established proximate cause because they (and other losing bidders) were the “immediately 

injured parties.”  Id. at 932.  The Phoenix Bond court thus confirmed a plaintiff’s ability to seek 

redress under RICO for injury caused by a competitor’s unlawful acts. 

C. Under ConocoPhillips’ Theory of Proximate Cause, No Victim of a Successful 
Government Bribery Scheme Could Establish a RICO Claim 

Having eliminated fair competition by its own corrupt acts, ConocoPhillips now contends 

that Oceanic cannot state a RICO claim because it would be too speculative for this Court to 

reconstruct a fair competition.  Motion at 15-16.  The Eighth Circuit explicitly disagreed:  “Were we 

to limit RICO’s application in this fashion, we not only would undermine RICO as a means of 

rooting out public corruption, but we would provide a formula to those who seek to achieve private 

gain through corruption of our democratic processes.”  Bieter, 987 F.2d at 1320.  Of course the law 

provides a remedy for those who engage in malfeasance to gain an advantage over a competitor.  

E.g.,  Envtl. Tectonics v. W.S. Kirkpatrick, Inc., 847 F.2d 1052, 1067 (3d Cir. 1988), aff’d 493 U.S. 

400 (1990) (aeromedical equipment company stated RICO claims against competitor that bribed 

Nigerian officials to secure contract); Terminate Control Corp. v. Horowitz, 28 F.3d 1335 (2d Cir. 

1994) (contractor stated RICO claims against city officials who retaliated against it following 

                                                 
corrupt companies from RICO liability so long as they win (which they undoubtedly will do if they 
cheat to secure an unfair advantage). 
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unsuccessful extortion attempt); Bieter, 987 F.2d at 1319 (real estate developer stated RICO claims 

against competitor that bribed city officials to veto plaintiff’s development); Astech-Marmon, 349 F. 

Supp. 2d at 265 (contractor stated RICO claims against competitor that bribed city officials to obtain 

contract).   

1. Oceanic’s Claims Do Not Fail Because They Implicate Governmental 
Decisions 

ConocoPhillips claims that Oceanic’s claims are too speculative because it would be 

“necessary [for the Court] to deconstruct the decision-making of . . . sovereigns.”  Motion at 14.25  

The cases ConocoPhillips cites to support that claim suggest no such thing and do not insulate it 

from liability. None of these cases involved a government bribery scheme such as ConocoPhillips'.  

Two cases involved application of the Noerr-Pennington doctrine to defendants’ lobbying efforts.  

See City of Columbia v. Omni Outdoor Advertising, Inc., 499 U.S. 365, 382 (1991) (concluding that 

the defendant was immune from antitrust liability under Noerr-Pennington doctrine for lobbying city 

officials to enact zoning ordinances)26; Sessions Tank Liners, Inc. v. Joor Mfgs., Inc., 17 F.3d 295, 

299-300 (9th Cir. 1994) (concluding that defendant’s activities in lobbying for amendment to 

Uniform Fire Code “shielded by petitioning immunity” under Noerr-Pennington doctrine).  The 

Noerr-Pennington doctrine protects legitimate petitioning activity; it is not a defense to commercial 

                                                 
25   Once again, ConocoPhillips improperly seeks to relitigate an issue already decided in 

Oceanic’s favor on the previous motion to dismiss.  In that motion, ConocoPhillips argued that 
Oceanic’s claims were barred by the act-of-state doctrine because they arose from sovereign acts of 
governments.  That argument was rejected by Judge Sullivan.  See Oceanic, 2006 WL at 2711527 
*14-15; November 17, 2006 Opinion at 1.  Relying on the United States Supreme Court’s opinion in 
W.S. Kirkpatrick & Co., Inc. v. Envtl. Tectonics Corp., 493 U.S. 400 (1990), Judge Sullivan 
explicitly held that the act-of-state doctrine does not bar adjudication of Oceanic’s claims against 
ConocoPhillips.  See Oceanic, 2006 WL 2711527 at *14-15. 

26   ConocoPhillips’ citation to Omni Outdoor Advertising is particularly inapt since the Court 
was addressing antitrust claims filed against the government entity itself when it raised concerns 
about deconstructing “the governmental process.”  See Omni Outdoor Advertising, 499 U.S. at 377. 
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bribery.  Instructional Systems Development Corp. v. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co., 817 F.2d 639, 650 

(10th Cir. 1987). 

ConocoPhillips other cases are no better. In Guatemala v. Tobacco Institute, Inc., 83 F. Supp. 

2d 125 (D.D.C. 1999), Guatemala sought to recover smoking-related health care costs caused by the 

tobacco companies' misrepresentations.  Id. at 127.  Citing Holmes, the court dismissed Guatemala’s 

claims because Guatemala's citizens, not the sate, were directly injured by the tobacco companies.  

Oceanic’s injuries are direct, not derivative.   

The plaintiffs' injury in Sizemore v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 1996 WL 498410 (D.S.C. 1996), 

was more remote and indirect.  Plaintiffs sued the wood trade association for personal injuries 

(burns) because its regulatory advocacy activities caused adoption of deficient building code 

standards which then caused the injuring fire.  Id. at *9.  The court found no evidence of a “causal 

connection” between the accused lobbying activities and the plaintiffs’ personal injuries.  Id.  Such 

attenuation does not exist here.  ConocoPhillips acted to exclude Oceanic directly.    

Directly-injured parties, like Oceanic, may pursue RICO claims arising from government 

bribery schemes.  See, e.g., Bieter, 987 F.2d at 1319; Astech-Marmon, 349 F. Supp. 2d at 265, Mylan 

Labs., 770 F. Supp. at 1053.  These courts did not dismiss such claims because they implicated 

governmental decision making.  (The bribery of governmental officials always involves 

governmental decision-making, especially when it is successful).  Under ConocoPhillips’ theory that 

any “deconstruction” of governmental decisions renders a claim impermissibly speculative, a 

defendant would be free to bribe and corrupt governmental decision makers (as ConocoPhillips did) 

with impunity.  
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2. The Other Potential “Factors” Raised by ConocoPhillips Do Not Defeat 
Proximate Cause. 

ConocoPhillips attempts to confuse the direct chain of causation with a laundry list of issues 

that would purportedly need to be resolved in order to ascertain causation.  See Motion at 15-16.  

ConocoPhillips includes in this list that: “East Timor would have determined to re-open bidding”; 

“Australia would have concurred”; “Oceanic would have determined to bid”; “Oceanic . . . would 

have had the wherewithal to bid”; and “Oceanic would have won.”  Id. 

First, a defendant’s unlawful conduct need not be the sole factor causing injury.  It is 

sufficient if the unlawful conduct was a “substantial factor” in causing the injury to establish 

proximate cause.  See Terminate Control Corp., 28 F.3d at 1346; Cox v. Adm’r U.S. Steel & 

Carnegie, 17 F.3d 1386, 1399 (11th Cir. 1994); see also W. Page Keeton et al., Prosser and Keeton 

on the Law of Torts § 41, at 268 (5th ed. 1984) (“If the defendant’s conduct was a substantial factor 

in causing the plaintiff’s injury, it follows that he will not be absolved from liability merely because 

other causes have contributed to the result, since such causes, innumerable, are always present.”).  

ConocoPhillips’ bribery of East Timorese officials was unquestionably a substantial factor in 

depriving Oceanic of an opportunity to compete fairly for oil and gas rights in the Timor Sea. 

Moreover, a cursory review of the issues raised by ConocoPhillips reveals that they are the 

same issues addressed in numerous other government bribery cases where proximate cause was 

found.  For example, an injured competitor can pursue RICO claims even where, as here, there was 

no bidding process.  See Astech-Marmon, 349 F. Supp. 2d at 271.  A plaintiff can also pursue RICO 

claims based on government bribery where it was unsuccessful in the competitive process; indeed, 

otherwise there would be no injury.  See, e.g., id. at 265; Bieter, 987 F.2d at 1319; Mylan Labs., 770 

F. Supp. at 1053. 
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In the course of adjudicating such claims, courts analyze whether such plaintiffs would have 

obtained the contract at issue, and what damages would be.  The court in Bieter expressly rejected 

the contention that such inquiries are too speculative:  “We do not question that the precise degree of 

Bieter’s injury is somewhat speculative, but it is simply the periphery, and not the core, which we so 

describe.  Bieter was injured [by defendants’ alleged bribery scheme.]”  Bieter, 987 F.2d at 1328-29.  

As these cases show, Oceanic’s claims do not involve the kind of speculative analysis that defeats 

proximate cause. 

Finally, the chain of causation is not broken by the presence of Australian representatives on 

the TSDA.  Motion at 16-17.  The Second Amended Complaint alleges that the entire decision 

making process was tainted by ConocoPhillips’ bribery and the corruption of East Timorese 

officials.  This is sufficient at the pleading stage.  See Bieter, 987 F.2d at 1326-27 (concluding that 

plaintiff need not prove all actors corrupt if the decision-making process itself was tainted by 

corruption).   

D. Oceanic Has Also Pleaded Proximate Cause as to Its Robinson-Patman Claim  

For the reasons identified above, Oceanic has also sufficiently alleged standing and causation 

with respect to its Robinson-Patman claim, which shares the same statutory basis for its causation 

requirement: section 4 of the Clayton Act.  See, e.g., Alan's of Atlanta, Inc. v. Minolta, 903 F.2d 

1414, 1420, 1427 (11th Cir. 1990) (denying defendants' summary judgment motion because 

plaintiff's Robinson-Patman claim sufficiently alleged causation under Clayton section 4 where 

injury allegedly "flow[ed] from" the "wrongdoing" of defendants). 

E. Oceanic Has Pleaded Proximate Cause as to its Common Law Claims 

Almost as an afterthought, ConocoPhillips alleges that Oceanic has not alleged 

causation in connection with its common-law claims for intentional interference with prospective 

economic advantage and unfair competition.  Unlike civil RICO or Robinson-Patman Act claims, the 
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law of causation with respect to these common torts is well settled.  Causation need only be pled by 

notice, see Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a); Ashe v. Corley, 992 F.2d 540, 545 (5th Cir. 1993), and it was.  See 

SAC ¶¶ 186-190.  That is more than sufficient. 

The causation requirement of intentional interference with prospective economic 

advantage is indeed a low hurdle.  Last year the Waco Court of Appeals ruled: 

We construe this [causation] element to require, at minimum, that the tortious 
conduct constitute a cause in fact that prevented the prospective business relationship 
from coming to fruition in the form of a contractual agreement. The test for cause in 
fact, or “but for causation,” is whether the act or omission was a substantial factor in 
causing the injury “without which the harm would not have occurred. 

Johnson v. Baylor Univ., 188 S.W.3d 296, 305 (Tex. Ct. App. 2006) (citing Doe v. Boys Clubs of 

Greater Dallas, Inc., 907 S.W.2d 472, 477 (Tex. 1995)).  In Johnson, trial court was reversed 

because the plaintiff had alleged that Baylor's failure to provide personnel records was a "substantial 

factor" in the plaintiffs' wrongful dismissal.  Id. at 306; see Exxon Corp. v. Allsup, 

808 S.W.2d 648, 659 (Tex. Ct. App. 1991) ("It need not be absolutely certain that the prospective 

contract would have been made but for the interference; rather, it must reasonably appear so, in view 

of all the circumstances.").  Here, Oceanic has adequately alleged that that ConocoPhillips' pattern of 

bribery was a "substantial factor" that contributed to its harm.  SAC ¶¶ 95, 186-190.     

Conclusion 

For the foregoing reasons, ConocoPhillips’ Rule 12(c) Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings 

should be denied in its entirety.  Oceanic has adequately alleged that ConocoPhillips’ unlawful 

conduct proximately caused Oceanic’s injury. 
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